STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 01 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Trial Judge
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000343

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, Petitioner,

v.

RANATA JONES Respondent.

**PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON CERTIORARI

1. Whether the post-conviction relief court erred in granting relief, where Counsel was not deficient for failure to obtain 911 calls because he made a standard discovery request at the start of the case, did not know a 911 call existed, and, thus, expecting further discovery requests regarding the 911 call would be unreasonable.
2. Whether the post-conviction relief court erred in granting relief, where Counsel reasonable investigated the passenger as a potential witness when Counsel interviewed the witness, put her on the witness list, and ultimately excluded her testimony because of irrelevance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ranata Jones (hereafter “Jones”) is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. During its February 2017 term, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Jones for driving under the influence (2017-GS-42-00979). Jones was represented by E. Joshua Schultz, Esquire (hereafter “Counsel”). Assistant Solicitors Andrew P. Miller and Sydni D. Kallam from the Seventh Circuit Solicitor’s Office represented the State. On August 9, 2017, the case proceeded to trial before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell and a jury. The jury found Jones guilty of the crimes charged. Judge Stilwell sentenced Jones to eighteen months’ imprisonment, provided that upon the service of ninety days, the balance would be suspended with probation for two years.

Jones timely filed a PCR application on August 6, 2018, alleging:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel, in that:
 - a. “[Applicant] contends that she vehemently requested and expressed that Counsel request for medical records, [illegible due to poor scanning], and documentation from the automobile insurance company and photos of the automobile incident so that Counsel could solidify her alibi and make a strategic and solid argument proving her actual, factual, and legal innocence before the jury. Counsel assured defendant that he would compel, compile and gather all information and documentation that the defendant requested to be investigated for trial preparation.”
 - i. Defendant expressed to Counsel that she was not the driver of the vehicle the night of the accident and that she was the passenger. She expressed to counsel that the passenger side front windshield was damaged due to her head hitting the windshield, which is consistent to her medical records, the picture of the car, as well as the statement from the actual driver, Randall L. Scott and the third rear passenger, Kimberly Hughes Lyles.”
 - ii. “Counsel failed to make any reasonable search into any of the Defendant’s request for this exculpatory evidence. . . . The jury was never presented nor notified of any of this evidence.”
 - iii. Applicant asserts she is entitled to a presumption of prejudice under *United States v. Cronin*, 466 U.S. 648 (1984).
 - b. “Defendant avers that she gave counsel all information and physical contact to

several witnesses that were part and parcel to the crime alleged and they were available, ready, and willing to be interviewed, subpoenaed, and able to stand trial. These favorable witnesses also contacted counsel on numerous accounts. Counsel expressed to these witnesses that he would interview them and have them ready available for trial but at no time did Counsel reach out to contact either witness prior to trial. However Defendant did get declarations, statements, affidavits to Counsel with witnesses available and present. Counsel never took any measures to correspond with either of the witnesses in preparation for trial.”

- i. “Specifically, Kimberly H. Lyles, stated that she was the rear passenger in the vehicle and that Defendant was in front of her in the front passenger seat when they left the party and when the accident actually occurred.”
 - ii. Counsel did not subpoena or call Lyles as a witness, and Applicant appears to take exception to the State’s calling of Randal L. Scott.
- c. “Counsel failed to file Notice of Appeal as expressed by Defendant and others.”
- i. “It is the defendant’s contention that Counsel would file an appeal on her behalf challenging the sufficiency of the evidence; the Court’s denial of the direct verdict, and the question from the jury. Defendant expressed to Counsel at the sentencing trial after the Court pronounced its order of sentencing, that Counsel file an appeal, Counsel assured defendant and her family that he had several issues he would address and that he only had 10 days to put in a Notice of Appeal.”
 1. “Defendant’s family and others contacted Counsel 3 days following sentencing to check the status of appeal and Counsel stated he would return the call and update them later. Defendant also had family to call Counsel on 3-way to check the status but only to be told by Counsel’s secretary that Counsel was not in. When one week, 7-days passed Counsel refused to talk with defendant [or] her family and ignored [their] numerous messages to him.”
- d. “Counsel failed to understand the law and facts of the case and failed to conduct pre-trial reasonable investigative facts.”
- e. “Counsel failed to allow defendant the fundamental right to testify as expressed before trial and during trial.”
- i. “At the conclusion of trial Counsel elected to address the Court stating he would not be calling his client to testify nor call any witnesses. At this instance defendant alerted Counsel that she wanted to and desired to testify. Counsel pulled one over on the defendant by expressing to her that if she desired to testify it would allow the Court and State to address her prior arrest and convictions of drug and alcohol offenses. He stated the jury would find defendant guilty and convict her in a heartbeat. Counsel

stated to defendant that he did not and was not prepared for that.”

2. “For good cause and in good faith, the [Applicant] contends actual, factual, and legal innocence.”

The State made its Return on June 12, 2019, requesting an evidentiary hearing. An evidentiary hearing occurred on October 11, 2019, before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Assistant Attorney General Jacob Isenberg of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office represented the State. Susannah Ross, Esquire was represented Jones.

On January 27, 2020, the PCR court granted relief, finding Counsel was ineffective for failing to reasonably investigate into the 911 call which, the Court found, would have led to Counsel actually obtaining the 911 call recording. Additionally, the Court found Counsel was ineffective for failing to call Kimberly Hughes (hereafter “Hughes”) to testify at trial, stating that Hughes testified she was never called or interviewed by Counsel, though Counsel testified that he thought her testimony would be unconvincing because she was asleep. Concerning both issues, the court found that no strategy was utilized because he failed to obtain the evidence and Applicant was prejudiced as a result, finding that the jury likely would have acquitted Jones because the evidence that was not presented was favorable to her.

The State submitted a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend, Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, filed on January 27, 2020. The Reply to the State’s Motion to Reconsider was filed on February 17, 2020. The Order Denying Respondent’s 59(e) Motion or Reconsider, Alter, or Amend was issued on February 24, 2020. The Notice of Appeal was filed on February 28, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 19, 2016, Trooper Gregory Glenn Elder, responded to the scene of a single-car accident on Interstate 85. (Appx. 38-39). The Toyota was found with its hood “up against the guardrail” in the outermost highway lane. (Appx. 39-40). From paperwork in the vehicle, Trooper determined Jones owned the car. (Appx. 40).

Trooper encountered and spoke with Jones, Hughes and Randall Scott (hereafter “Scott”); all of whom smelled of alcohol. (Appx. 41). When the Trooper arrived at the scene, all three of the individuals were outside the car. (Appx. 50). They were all transported to the hospital without any field sobriety tests being conducted. (Appx. 42). Jones was uncooperative and did not answer any of the Trooper’s questions following the accident. (Appx. 41, 44). Jones refused a blood test at the hospital. (Appx. 45). Hughes told Trooper Elder that she was sitting in the back seat. (Appx. 51). Scott initially told Trooper that he was in the front passenger seat. (Appx. 54, 63-64, 67). However, Scott called Trooper the next day and said he was driving when the accident occurred. (Appx. 60, 64, 68-70).

At trial, Scott, a witness in the car during the accident, testified that he called 911 after the accident occurred. (Appx. 62-63). Scott testified that both Jones and Hughes were asleep when he called. (Appx. 63). Scott stated that Jones was in the passenger seat and Hughes was in the back seat; they were both asleep. (Appx. 63). When asked if he remembered telling the Trooper the night of the accident that Jones was driving and he told her to slow down right before the accident, he stated he did. (Appx. 63). When asked who he told to slow down, he said Jones, but then said he was driving, not Jones. (Appx. 64). Scott stated he called the Trooper the day after the accident and told him he was driving. (Appx. 64). Scott testified that he was drunk that night, but did not think Jones was “sloppy drunk”, though he conceded she had some alcohol

that night. (Appx. 64-65). Scott conceded he remembered telling Trooper Elder that he called Jones to pick her up and that he did that so they could go out that night; not because he wanted a ride home. (Appx. 65). Scott stated he initially told the trooper she was driving because he was drunk and scared. (Appx. 67). Scott also said he had previously gone to prison for a probation violation and lied because he did not want to go back to prison. (Appx. 67-68). Counsel declined to call any witnesses at trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in PCR matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). Overall, reviewing courts “give[] great deference to the post-conviction relief court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law”, *Dempsey v. State*, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005), with the applicant shouldering the burden of proof. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCPP; *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Further, a PCR court’s findings will be upheld if there is “any evidence of probative value sufficient to support them.” *Id.* Reversal of the lower court’s findings occurs when there is no probative evidence to support the initial finding. *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 526 S.E.2d 222 (2000). Courts must conduct a de novo review when evaluating questions of law and are required to reverse the initial holding when the decision is controlled by an error of law. *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40; *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

On appeal, the State argues the PCR court erred in granting Jones relief because Counsel reasonable investigated both the 911 calls and the potential trial witnesses. Specifically, the State argues that Counsel was effective because he issued a discovery requested that should have been sufficient to produce the 911 audio and he adequately investigated the potential trial witness and the exclusion of the witness was a valid trial strategy. Thus, the PCR court's findings are controlled by an error of law and are not supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should grant certiorari.

In PCR actions, applicants bear the burden of proving allegations in their applications. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant asserts ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must show "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the Sixth Amendment, as explained by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*.

Pursuant to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis, the applicant must prove defense counsel's performance was deficient. *Id.* at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel's actions fell outside of the zone of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. *See also* Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC ("The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence."). Reasonableness is determined by the "variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant," and the

scope of the reasonableness inquiry is limited to facts counsel had available at the time of representation. *Id.* at 689. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually “countless” ways. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant so that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695. Realistically, this matters “only in the rarest case” because “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 111-12 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Id.* at 696-97.

I. The post-conviction relief court erred in granting relief, where Counsel was not ineffective for failure to obtain 911 calls because he made a standard discovery request at the start of the case, did not know a 911 call existed, and, thus, expecting further discovery requests regarding the 911 call would be unreasonable.

Here, the State contends that Counsel was not ineffective for not gaining actual possession of 911 calls. *Strickland* makes clear that counsel “has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” 466 U.S. at 691. When highlighting failure to investigate as a ground for a larger ineffective assistance of counsel claim, judicial determination of this claim’s validity is evaluated for “reasonableness [under] all the circumstances” with “a heavy measure of deference to counsel’s judgments” applied. *Id.* However, counsel is required to, at minimum, “interview potential witnesses and make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case”, *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331-32, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (quoting *Troedel v. Wainwright*, 667 F.Supp. 1456, 1461 (S.D.Fla.1986), *aff’d*, 828 F.2d 670 (11th Cir.1987)), including aggressively re-examining all the government’s forensic evidence and conducting analyses of all other available forensic evidence.” *Id.* (quoting *American Bar Association Guidelines For The Appointment And Performance Of Defense Counsel In Death Penalty Cases*, reprinted in 31 Hofstra L.Rev. 913, 1015 (2003) (emphasis added)).

Counsel acted reasonably given the circumstances and, thus, was not deficient. Counsel submitted a standard discovery request, which produced other related evidence, including videos and reports. (PCR Tr. 32). Counsel testified he did not remember anyone telling him a 911 call existed and had relevant information on it. (PCR Tr. 32). Counsel stated he never received a copy of the 911 call, despite filing a discovery request, which was otherwise honored by the State. (PCR Tr. 37-38). It is unreasonable to expect Counsel to submit a secondary request for additional discovery consisting of one audio recording that he did not know existed, especially

since he received virtually all other pertinent discovery along with the original request without issue. That Counsel did not follow up on this request because he did not know a 911 call existed, much less was relevant, after reviewing the rest of the file, discovery, and conversations he had with Jones, was not a deficiency on Counsel's part.

Even if this Court finds that Counsel was deficient, Jones was not prejudiced by this deficiency. Counsel testified at the PCR hearing right after hearing the 911 call that he thought it would be difficult to say whether or not the call would have had an impact at trial, if played. (Appx. 218). Additionally, the jury did not find Scott to be credible. At trial, Scott testified that he called 911 when the accident occurred. (Appx. 62-63). Also at trial, Scott stated that he was driving when the accident occurred; not Jones. (Appx. 64-65). He stated that he only told the officer on scene that Jones was driving because he did not want to return to prison. (Appx. 67). His testimony was demonstrably disbelieved by the jury because of the contradictory statements given and, as a result, Jones was convicted at trial. A 911 call recording consisting of the same statements already deemed incredible, delivered by the person impeached at trial whose testimony was rejected when the jury voted to convict presumably would not have changed the results of the proceedings and, thus, Jones was not prejudiced by Counsel's alleged failure to procure and play the 911 call at trial.

II. The post-conviction relief court erred in granting relief, where Counsel reasonable investigated the passenger as a potential witness when Counsel interviewed the witness, put her on the witness list, and ultimately excluded her testimony because of irrelevance.

Here, the State contends that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to call an irrelevant witness to the stand. "In most PCR cases in which the applicant seeks relief for trial counsel's failure to call witnesses, the PCR court's analysis—and the analysis by the appellate court—is focused on the strategic considerations of counsel in balancing the potential benefits of calling a

particular witness against the identifiable risks.” *Buckson v. State*, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018). Counsel’s performance is not deficient if he decided not to present a witness as a tactical and strategic move, nor if the witness was unlikely to appear or present testimony that could have made a difference at trial. *See e.g. Smith v. State*, 404 S.C. 493, 502, 745 S.E.2d 378, 383 (2012) (finding that counsel was not deemed ineffective when petitioner failed to introduce any evidence that established prejudice to the petitioner); *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 457-58, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011) (stating that counsel was not ineffective because the witness could not withstand cross-examination due to his prior vacillation and the cumulative nature of his testimony and he knew the petitioner’s statement to the police would be entirely consistent with the supposed witness’s statement at trial); *Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (finding that counsel was in deficient by failing to call all alibi witnesses when two witnesses who testified did not establish the alibi).

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