STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Nov 12 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

RENATA JONES,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000343

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The proper standard for appellate review of in PCR cases “depends on the specific issue raised on appeal. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d at 839. The reviewing court will “defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” Id. This Court must sustain a PCR court’s grant of relief if there is “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the PCR court’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989); see also Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006); Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 348, 495 S.E.2d 768, 769 (1998); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997). The reviewing court must give great deference to the PCR court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005). The appellate court “will review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” Smalls, 422 S.C. at 180-181, 810 S.E.2d at 839. “Questions of law are reviewed de novo,” and the reviewing court must “reverse the PCR court’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527; see also Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013).

As will be discussed in greater detail infra, extensive evidence in the record supports the PCR court’s order granting Respondent relief on *three* instances of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari. **Additionally, this Court should deny certiorari because Petitioner raised only two issues on appeal where the PCR court granted relief on three separate grounds; thus, the PCR court’s grant of relief on the third ground is the law of the case. In other words, even if this Court reversed the PCR court on the two issues raised by the state, Respondent would still be entitled to relief from her conviction based upon the third ground on which the PCR court granted relief.**

Criminal defendants are entitled to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

I. This Court should deny certiorari because the state failed to appeal the PCR court’s grant of relief based upon defense counsel’s failure argue for the admissibility of testimony establishing a witness confessed to the crime for which Respondent stood trial to a police officer using well-established rules of evidence.

Relevant facts

Elder admitted to defense counsel that Scott called him by telephone the day after the collision. App. 49, ll. 7-8. When defense counsel asked Elder what Scott said, the state objected on the basis of hearsay. App. 49, ll. 9-12. After a bench conference, which was not transcribed, the judge instructed defense counsel to finish his examination of Elder, which did not include the

substance of Scott’s testimony.² App. 49, ll. 16-20. At the conclusion of Elder’s testimony, the judge allowed defense counsel to proffer the testimony. App. 55, ll. 9-10. According to Elder, Scott called him the day after the accident to say “that he was driving the car and not [Respondent].” App. 56, ll. 11-13.

After the proffer, the judge indicated he would not admit the testimony unless defense counsel could “articulate it to [him] with specificity” how the statement was not hearsay. App. 57, ll. 14-121; App. 57, l. 25 – App. 58, l. 2. Counsel put up no argument. Counsel indicated he could not “think of an exception.” App. 58, ll. 3-6. Nevertheless, the jury did learn from Elder that Scott called him the day after the accident. App. 60, ll. 1-16. The jury did not learn the substance of the call from Elder.

The solicitor challenged Scott’s credibility in his closing argument. Specifically, the solicitor asked the jurors to rely upon what Scott told Elder on the scene of the accident, which was captured on Elder’s video. App. 80, ll. 3-25. According to the solicitor, Scott’s condemnation of Respondent as the driver to Elder as it was captured on video “ma[d]e a whole lot of sense.” App. 80, ll. 3-25. He accused Scott of fabricating his trial testimony after he “[h]ad a little time to think about it.” App. 80, ll. 3-25. The solicitor urged the jurors to credit Scott’s statements to Elder on the video when Scott did “[n]ot [have] a whole lot of time to think.” App. 81, ll. 14-22.

During the PCR hearing, defense counsel recalled his attempt to elicit testimony from Elder regarding Scott’s phone call to him in which Scott confessed to being the driver. App. 221, l. 24 – App. 222, l. 15. Further, he admitted he failed to argue that Elder’s testimony regarding the

² An objection made during an off-the-record conference, such as a bench conference, which is not made part of the record, does not preserve the question for review. York v. Conway Ford, Inc., 325 S.C. 170, 173, 480 S.E.2d 726, 728 (1997).

phone call from Scott was not hearsay because it was being offered to rebut an allegation of recent fabrication by the state. App. 221, l. 24 – App. 222, l. 15.

The PCR court noted that defense counsel proffered the testimony of Elder that Scott called him the day after the accident to confess he was driving; however, defense counsel failed to appeal the case, which prevented appellate review. App. 235. The judge found defense counsel “failed to make the reasonable argument that the call was not hearsay because it was being offered to rebut a charge of recent fabrication.” App. 235.

Turning to the prejudice prong, the PCR court found “[b]ut for counsel’s ... failure to make effective evidentiary arguments regarding Scott’s subsequent call to Trooper Elder, the jury would likely have acquitted [Respondent].” App. 236. Although the jury heard from Scott that he had called Elder the following day to confess, defense counsel’s failure to elicit this information from Elder directly “left the jury with the false impression that Mr. Scott had denied being the driver all along until he changed his story at [Respondent]’s trial to protect her.” App. 235. “This misrepresentation of facts allowed the state to attack Mr. Scott’s credibility with a convincing argument of recent fabrication.” App. 235. As the PCR court explained “[e]vidence of Scott’s call the next day ... would have shown that argument to be false and likely changed the outcome of the case.” App. 235.

Discussion

It is axiomatic that appellate counsel must appeal all grounds upon which the ruling was based. This is long-established law in South Carolina. See Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) (finding arguments on appeal barred by the two-issue rule where the master found in favor of the opposing party on three causes of action, but the appealing party appealed only the findings two); Anderson v. Short, 323 S.C. 522, 525, 476 S.E.2d

475, 477 (1996) (refusing to consider an issue on appeal where the judge ruled against the party on two grounds, but only one ground was challenged on appeal); Biales v. Young, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 482, 484 (1993) (explaining that “[f]ailure to argue is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal” where the appellant failed to appeal the findings of waiver, ratification, or estoppel, which were alternative rulings for the trial judge).

“It is a fundamental rule of law that an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a lower court if the offended party does not challenge that ruling.” Toal, Appellate Practice in South Carolina, at 80. “Failure to challenge the ruling is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal.” Id. “Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellate appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.” Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010).

The PCR judge granted relief to Respondent on three separate bases. The state’s petition for writ of certiorari addressed only two of the three. The state failed to challenge the PCR judge’s grant of relief based upon trial counsel’s failure to argue for the admissibility of Elder’s testimony regarding the phone call from Scott confessing to the crime pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE. In light of this failure, this Court should deny the state’s petition for certiorari.

In the alternative, should this Court wish to ignore the procedural bar and consider whether to grant the petition based on the merits, this Court should deny the petition based on the merits. “Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by [the Rules of Evidence] or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.” Rule 802, SCRE. “‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE.

A statement is not hearsay if ... [t]he declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is ...

consistent with the declarant's testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive; provided, however, the statement must have been made before the alleged fabrication, or before the alleged improper influence or motive arose.

Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE. "Rule 801(d)(1)(B) changed the common law in South Carolina where proof of a prior consistent statement had been admissible to rehabilitate a witness who had been impeached with a prior consistent statement." State v. Foster, 354 S.C. 614, 621, 582 S.E.2d 426, 429 (2003).

The Supreme Court has made clear "[t]he plain language of Rule 801(d)(1)(B) only permits evidence of a prior consistent statement when the witness has been charged with recent fabrication or improper motive or influence." State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 124, 551 S.E.2d 240, 245 (2001). "Although questioning a witness about a prior inconsistent statement does call the witness's credibility into question, that is not the same as charging the witness with 'recent fabrication' or 'improper influence or motive.'" Id.

Throughout the cross-examination of Scott, the solicitor impeached him with his prior inconsistent statement to Elder regarding who was driving the car. App. 63, l. 19 – App. 64, l. 12. However, the solicitor's questioning of Scott went beyond simple impeachment. The solicitor's questioning charged Scott with recent fabrication. Specifically, the solicitor questioned why Scott told Elder that Respondent was driving. App. 64, l. 10. He wanted to know why Scott told Elder that he allegedly said "slow down cuz," if Respondent were not the driver. App. 64, l. 10. The solicitor suggested Scott's testimony was based upon a recent fabrication when he questioned the reasonableness of Scott driving Respondent's car in light of Scott's testimony that he was intoxicated, and Respondent had consumed less alcohol than he had. App. 64, l. 17 – App. 65, l. 9; App. 66, ll. 20-24.

In his closing argument, the solicitor's charge of recent fabrication was made more exact. After comparing Scott's testimony to what he said to Elder at the scene, the solicitor accused Scott of changing his story after he "[h]ad a little time to think about it." App. 80, ll. 3-8. The solicitor requested the jurors discredit Scott's trial testimony because his trial testimony was a "story" that did not make sense whereas his "perfectly detailed account of what happened" to Elder, which was made when he got out of the car, made "perfect sense." App. 81, ll. 1-22.

Despite defense counsel's proffer of Elder's testimony regarding the telephone conversation with Scott was admirable, but it did little to give the judge a reason to admit the testimony. Just as an objection must be on a specific ground, the proponent of the admissibility of evidence must articulate a reason for the admission of the evidence and respond to the other side's objection in a specific manner. See State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997). Objections and their responses must be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge. See State v. New, 338 S.C. 313, 318, 526 S.E.2d 237, 239 (Ct. App. 1999). Here, defense counsel failed to articulate any reason for the admissibility of Elder's testimony when one was readily available. See Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 389, 798 S.E.2d 561, 571 (2017) (holding trial counsel performed deficiently by omitting several grounds for objection to impermissible testimony).

Defense counsel's deficient performance – failing to articulate a basis for admission of Elder's testimony regarding the phone call from Scott – prejudiced Petitioner. The only issue for the jury to decide in this case was who was driving the car – Respondent or Scott. Therefore, all evidence on this issue was critical to the jury's decision. The only evidence before the jury that Respondent was driving was Scott's statements to Elder on the recording and Trooper Elder's opinion, which could be given little credence as he was not an eyewitness to the accident.

Although the jury learned of the phone call from Scott, the jury did not learn of the phone call from an independent source – Elder. The solicitor destroyed Scott’s credibility related to his trial testimony, which included Scott’s claim that he called Elder to confess to being the driver. Without Elder’s corroborating testimony, the jury had little choice but to discredit Scott’s testimony on this point. Thus, trial counsel’s failure to articulate a proper basis for admission of Elder’s testimony, which was deficient performance, prejudiced Respondent as it allowed the solicitor to discredit all evidence that Respondent was not the driver.

II. This Court should deny certiorari because the evidence supports the PCR court’s factual findings that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to conduct a reasonable investigation that would have resulted in the procurement and presentation of a recording of a 911 call, which was favorable to Respondent on the only critical issue in the case.

Relevant facts

Scott informed the jurors that he called 911 after the accident. App. 62, l. 25 – App. 63, l. 1. He also informed the jurors that Respondent and Hughes were asleep when he made the 911 call. App. 63, ll. 13-14. When Scott confessed to the jury that he was driving the car, the state impeached him with his prior inconsistent statements to Trooper Elder in which he pointed the finger at Respondent as the driver. App. 62, l. 13 – App. 64, l. 6; App. 65, l. 20 – App. 66, l. 4. The state did not use – or even attempt to use – the 911 call to present evidence of who was driving.

During his closing argument, the solicitor claimed it was “clear” Respondent was driving. App. 79, l. 25 – App. 80, l. 2. The solicitor asked the jurors to focus on the video, in which the jurors “saw what Mr. Scott said that night.” App. 80, ll. 3-5. He claimed that “no one contested it at the scene that she was the driver.” App. 80, ll. 5-6. The solicitor contrasted the video with Scott’s testimony, confessing to be the driver. According to the solicitor, Scott “[h]ad a little time

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